# **Rebuilding Rotterdam**

International Perspectives on Post-War Urban Reconstruction



Açelya Ocalan 5263654

AR2A011 Architectural History Thesis TU Delft 2024/2025

# Abstract

This thesis examines the post-World War II reconstruction of Rotterdam, highlighting the significance of foreign perspectives on the city's redevelopment. Unlike other severely affected European cities, Rotterdam rejected conventional reconstruction, opting for a contemporary, modernist approach aligned with the broader architectural and urban planning trends of the 20th century.

The near-total destruction of the city center in 1940 created a unique chance for a radical reconstruction of Rotterdam's urban landscape. This study places Rotterdam in a larger global context by examining the impact of worldwide urban planning theories and reconstruction techniques on the city. The analysis addresses not only Dutch reconstruction principles, but also how planners and architects from Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom perceived and engaged with Rotterdam's rebuilding.

Through analysis of historical archives, reconstruction magazines, and international publications, this study investigates how Rotterdam's reconstruction was viewed as a pioneering example of modern urbanism. The long-term effects of reconstruction on urban growth and the current appreciation of post-war architectural legacy are also evaluated. Ultimately, this thesis contributes to understanding Rotterdam as a case study in adaptive urban development, highlighting the fusion of local decisions and international ideas that resulted in an innovative and forward-looking city.

## Keywords

Rotterdam reconstruction, architectural discourse, post-war urbanism, international perspectives, modernist planning

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	5
Literature Review and Methodology	6
Chapter 1: The Destruction and Reconstruction of Rotterdam	8
1.1 The Bombing of Rotterdam (1940)	8
1.2 Initial Responses to the Destruction	9
1.3 Early Reconstruction Plans and Debates	9
Chapter 2: International Perspectives on Rotterdam's Reconstruction	10
2.1 Post-War Urban Planning Principles in the Netherlands	10
2.2 Interpreting International Discourse: A Thematic Approach	12
2.3 Functional Planning and Pedestrian Urbanism in Canadian Discourse	12
2.4 Contrasting International Perspectives	14
3. Conclusion	18
Bibliography	19
List of Figures	20



Figure II: The Lijnbaan in 1953 near Aert van Nesstraat. Platform Wederopbouw Rotterdam.

#### Introduction

After the destruction on May 14, 1940, Rotterdam's rebuilding became one of the most radical urban transformations in post-war Europe. Rather than restoring the old city, Rotterdam embraced a modern approach focused on functionality, zoning, and architectural innovation. While much has been written about its political decisions and physical reconstruction, this essay explores how that transformation was represented in international architectural discourse.

Focusing on magazines from Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom, the research investigates how foreign architectural journals described and interpreted Rotterdam's post-war reconstruction. The main goal is to find common themes, contrasting opinions, and hidden ideas in these articles, and to understand what they reveal about wider goals for cities after the war.

Using discourse analysis, the study examines language, tone, and visual framing in a selection of these publications. It not only maps how Rotterdam was portrayed abroad, but also considers how these portrayals reflect evolving architectural values and the role of international exchange in shaping urban planning ideals.

By comparing global perspectives, this thesis contributes to a broader understanding of Rotterdam's symbolic significance in postwar modernism, as well as how cities serve as projection sites in transnational architectural discussions.

#### Literature Review and Methodology

The existing literature on Rotterdam's post-war reconstruction provides a thorough account of national planning practices and architectural developments. Key works by Wagenaar, Bosma and Hellinga, and Van Ulzen provide vital insights into the Basisplan's objectives, the sociopolitical background of reconstruction, and the role of modernist ideals in forming the city. This thesis shifts the focus from design practice to international representation.

To explore how Rotterdam was perceived abroad, this research uses discourse analysis as its primary method. Rather than treating architectural journals as neutral sources, they are approached as cultural artifacts—texts that reflect underlying ideologies, professional anxieties, and aspirations. Eight articles published between 1952 and 1956 in Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom form the basis of the analysis.

The aim is not to trace factual reporting but to interpret patterns in language, tone, and framing. What kind of urban future did Rotterdam seem to represent? Why was it critiqued or admired? These journals influenced how it was perceived within worldwide modernist discourse.

This method emphasizes how cities function as symbolic structures in larger global narratives. It demonstrates that Rotterdam's rebuilding was not only physical, but also discursive, with its identity altered through language, imagery, and representation.



## 1. The Destruction and Reconstruction of Rotterdam

Understanding the immediate background of Rotterdam's reconstruction is crucial before examining how the world's media covered the city's post-war development. The bombing of Rotterdam and its reconstruction after the German Luftwaffe's aerial bombardment on May 14, 1940, are covered in this chapter. It starts with an analysis of the actual bombing, then moves on to the immediate reactions to the destruction and ends with preliminary ideas and discussions for the reconstruction of Rotterdam.

# 1.1. The Bombing of Rotterdam (1940)

On May 14, 1940, the German Luftwaffe bombed the center of Rotterdam, destroying roughly 25,000 homes and displacing more than 80,000 residents. The bombing played a decisive role in the Netherlands' decision to surrender. Following the event, General Winkelman started the initial administrative procedures for reconstruction, most notably by establishing the Grootboek voor de Wederopbouw, a central fund that permits regulated reconstruction and compensation systems. <sup>1</sup>

While many institutions from the German occupation were abolished after liberation in 1945, the Grootboek remained in use until the late 1950s.<sup>2</sup> The financial scope of the damage was immense: between 1941 and 1944, compensation claims totaled over 600 million guilders and rose to more than 6 billion after the war. <sup>3</sup>

These early measures laid the groundwork for a centralized and state-supported rebuilding process, distinguishing Rotterdam from other Dutch cities in both scale and ambition.

## 1.2. Initial Responses to the Destruction

Only a few buildings, such as the Stock Exchange and City Hall, survived the fires that followed the bombardment and left the city center in ruins. <sup>4</sup> With the assistance of the Expropriation Act (1940–1944), which made extensive land acquisition and planning possible, the municipality quickly began the process of clearing debris and preparing the soil.<sup>5</sup>

These initiatives reflected a growing preference for thorough urban redevelopment over fragmented reconstruction. The city saw this destruction not only as a tragedy but also as an opportunity to redefine its urban structure in line with modern planning ideals. <sup>6</sup>

#### **1.3. Early Reconstruction Plans and Debates**

After the liberation in 1945, the Dutch government approved a full redevelopment plan for central Rotterdam. Led by Cornelis van Traa, the city's *Basisplan* drastically reduced building density and introduced wide boulevards, open public space, and clearly zoned areas for housing, commerce, and industry. Only about one-third of the destroyed housing stock was rebuilt in the center; the rest shifted to suburbs like Zuidwijk and Overschie.<sup>7</sup>

Rebuilding the Central Station and constructing Europe's first car-free shopping district, the Lijnbaan, were important initiatives. The planning system allowed for architectural freedom within a controlled framework: building heights were regulated, materials reviewed, and landscaping selected with ecological concerns in mind. <sup>8</sup>

Rotterdam thus became a model for modern urban reconstruction, drawing attention nationally and abroad for its bold, functionalist vision. <sup>9</sup>

<sup>5</sup> Wagenaar, Welvaartsstad, 55–59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> C. Wagenaar, *Welvaartsstad in wording: De wederopbouw van Rotterdam, 1940–1952* (Groningen: s.n., 1993), 44–47.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> S. Couperus, "Experimental Planning after the Blitz: Non-Governmental Planning Initiatives and Post-War Reconstruction in Coventry and Rotterdam, 1940–1955," *Journal of Modern European History* 13, no. 4 (2015): 527.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Kees Bosma and Herman Hellinga, *Mastering the City: Planning and Architecture in the Netherlands, 1940–* 2010(Rotterdam: nai010 publishers, 2006), 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Paul Groenendijk, "Wat is wederopbouw?" Platform Wederopbouw Rotterdam, accessed April 2,

<sup>2025,</sup> https://wederopbouwrotterdam.nl/artikelen/wat-is-wederopbouw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R. Blijstra, "Rotterdam als wederopbouwstad," Het Vrije Volk, November 13, 1952.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Bosma and Hellinga, *Mastering the City*, 103–105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Patricia van Ulzen, *Imagine a Metropolis: Rotterdam's Creative Class, 1970–2000* (Rotterdam: 010 Publishers, 2007), 18–21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "Rotterdam – The Reconstruction of the Inner City," *The Architect and Building News* 202, no. 4384 (December 25, 1952): 757–760.

# 2. International Perspectives on Rotterdam's Reconstruction

Having outlined the destruction and early reconstruction efforts of Rotterdam, this chapter shifts focus to the global planning ideas that shaped Dutch post-war urbanism. This part discusses how ideas from global movements, such as CIAM modernism, Le Corbusier's Ville Radieuse, German reconstruction patterns, and Anglo-American neighborhood planning, impacted the developing of the Dutch Basisplan rather than examining responses from other countries.

Rotterdam's planners actively followed worldwide trends and carefully modified global concepts to suit local goals and conditions. This chapter draws on Dutch secondary literature to trace how international models were translated into the Dutch context, especially through functional zoning, traffic separation, and flexible mixed-use design.

This chapter builds the foundation for the following chapter, which examines how these ideas were embraced and discussed in global architectural media, by situating Rotterdam not only as a Dutch project but also as a component of a larger global discourse on the post-war city.

## 2.1 Post-War Urban Planning Principles in the Netherlands

The post-war period in the Netherlands, known as *wederopbouw*, refers to the large-scale reconstruction of cities severely damaged during World War II. Urban design was redefined during this period, which generally lasted from 1945 to 1968 and was based on modernist planning principles. Rotterdam, having suffered near-total destruction in its city center, became the country's most ambitious reconstruction project and a laboratory for the application of new planning ideals. <sup>10</sup>

These ideals were strongly influenced by international currents in architectural and urban thought. The rationalist, functionalist approach was embraced by Dutch planners after being influenced by CIAM, Le Corbusier's Ville Radieuse, and Anglo-American models. <sup>11</sup> Narrow, mixed-use street layouts gave way to zoning, broad traffic corridors, and separated pedestrian flows — concepts central to the *Basisplan* for Rotterdam. The emphasis was on clarity, spatial hierarchy, and efficiency. <sup>12</sup>

A key example of pedestrian-centered urbanism was the construction of the Lijnbaan shopping center in 1953. The Lijnbaan embraced the concept of traffic-free commercial zones and was influenced by both modernist theory and international retail planning, especially from North America. <sup>13</sup> Housing was organized into clearly defined blocks, with flexible layouts that allowed for future change of use — a reflection of both functional needs and long-term adaptability. <sup>14</sup>

The development of Rotterdam blended global principles with limited resources and complicated political interactions. <sup>15</sup> For instance, while inspired by the verticality of Le Corbusier's vision, Rotterdam maintained mid-rise development and prioritized multipurpose ground floors. This hybridization placed Rotterdam firmly within the transnational flow of modernist planning, while asserting its own pragmatic variation.

Although public support for reconstruction was high in the immediate post-war period — symbolized by slogans like *Aan den slag* and public events like *Opbouwdag* — these initiatives primarily served a morale-boosting and symbolic function rather than shaping planning policy directly. <sup>16</sup> Their inclusion in the visual and cultural atmosphere of reconstruction underscored a sense of collective purpose, but planning decisions remained largely technocratic in nature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> R. Blijstra, "Rotterdam als wederopbouwstad," Het Vrije Volk, November 13, 1952.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Le Corbusier, *The Radiant City* (New York: Orion Press, 1967); S. Couperus, "Experimental Planning after the Blitz: Non-Governmental Planning Initiatives and Post-War Reconstruction in Coventry and Rotterdam, 1940–1955," *Journal of Modern European History* 13, no. 4 (2015): 518–520.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> K. Bosma and H. Hellinga, *Mastering the City: Planning and Architecture in the Netherlands, 1940–2010* (Rotterdam: nai010 publishers, 2006), 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Patricia van Ulzen, *Imagine a Metropolis: Rotterdam's Creative Class, 1970–2000* (Rotterdam: 010 Publishers, 2007), 18–21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> C. Wagenaar, Welvaartsstad in wording: De wederopbouw van Rotterdam, 1940–1952 (Groningen: s.n., 1993), 72–75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Wagenaar, Welvaartsstad in wording, 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Van der Mandele, "Speech at unveiling of the monument Aan den Slag," November 1945, Nationaal Archief.

# 2.2 Interpreting International Discourse: A Thematic Approach

This chapter examines how Rotterdam was portrayed abroad by examining architectural publications published in the US, UK, and Canada between 1952 and 1956. These were formative years in global urban discourse, shaped by debates around postwar recovery, planning authority, and modernism.

#### 2.3 Functional Planning and Pedestrian Urbanism in Canadian Discourse

The focus on pedestrian-friendly planning and effective neighborhood architecture was one of the most noticeable themes in Canadian coverage of the Dutch reconstruction. The Royal Architectural Institute of Canada (RAIC) published an article in Architecture Canada in September 1952 that expressed a strong appreciation for what it refers to as "coherent and systematic principles" in Dutch post-war urban planning. <sup>17</sup> This narrative aligns with broader mid-century international interests in neighborhood unit theory and traffic separation — both key components in modernist urbanism.

The article highlights Rotterdam's "carefully separated traffic flows" and the spatial logic of its pedestrian walkways, highlighting it as a prime example.<sup>18</sup> The city is specifically said to be "thoughtfully arranged to promote safety and community interaction" in terms of its layout.<sup>19</sup> While the article does not use the term "pedestrian urbanism" explicitly, its focus on safe public spaces, traffic segregation, and site-sensitive housing reveals a clear alignment with those principles.

As historians, we might ask: Why this focus? One explanation may be that this emphasis reflects a growing North American concern — in the early 1950s — with the consequences of car-centric city planning. <sup>20</sup> The admiration for Rotterdam's pedestrian-first strategy can thus be read as both descriptive and aspirational: a subtle critique of Canadian urban trends that were increasingly dominated by highways and suburban sprawl.

Additionally, the publication attributes the Dutch approach to economic pragmatism. Repetitive architectural designs and standardized dwellings are seen as rational solutions to material shortage rather than as aesthetic defects: "Architectural quality is achieved through spatial composition and green integration, not ornamentation."<sup>21</sup> This is similar to discussions about housing at the time in Canada, where practicality and expressive design were frequently contrasted.<sup>22</sup>

The Canadian article also underscores the integration of services within residential areas — schools, shops, parks — as a deliberate attempt to reduce dependence on central city functions. The repetition of this idea in multiple parts of the article suggests a strong resonance with North American neighborhood planning theory of the time, particularly the ideas emerging from Clarence Perry's *Neighborhood Unit* and post-war community planning debates. <sup>23</sup>

By foregrounding Rotterdam's rational planning and pedestrian strategies, the Canadian perspective positions the city not only as a site of recovery, but as a model for modern urban living. However, this framing also reveals certain ideological leanings: the article avoids critical engagement with potential limitations of this model, such as social alienation or monotony — issues that would emerge more clearly in later decades.

<sup>21</sup> van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," 265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> H. van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," *Architecture Canada* 29, no. 9 (September 1952): 264–265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," 264–265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," 264-265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> John Sewell, *The Shape of the City: Toronto Struggles with Modern Planning* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1993), 74–76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Rhodri Windsor Liscombe, "Modernism in Canadian Architecture," *Journal of the Society for the Study of Architecture in Canada* 15, no. 2 (1990): 5–10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Clarence Perry, "The Neighborhood Unit," in *Regional Survey of New York and Its Environs*, vol. 7 (New York: Regional Plan of New York and Its Environs, 1929).

## 2.4 Contrasting International Perspectives

A recurring theme in the analyzed international journals is how to maintain a balance between architectural innovation and planning authority. Though with different priority, Progressive Architecture (US) and Architecture Canada (Canada) both commend Rotterdam's reconstruction efforts, which reflects the respective nations' larger ideological stances and urban planning traditions.

## **Creativity vs. Planning Rigidity**

The economist and urban theorist Leo Grebler describes Rotterdam as an example of both innovation and contradiction in the August 1956 issue of Progressive Architecture. Projects like the Lijnbaan, which "combine American energy with European refinement," are praised for their "dynamic clarity" in the article.<sup>24</sup> Yet Grebler also points to tensions between municipal planning authorities and architects, describing how regulation sometimes "stifles architectural individuality."<sup>25</sup> The article notes how early planning resembled the centralized French model, but later shifted toward a more committee-based design review — an evolution meant to balance consistency with design freedom.

While this article includes no direct imagery of Rotterdam, its tone and language — including words like "model," "cautionary," and "ambitious" — reflect a critical but respectful distance.<sup>26</sup> That nuance may relate to *Progressive Architecture*'s own editorial line: known in the 1950s for promoting modernist experimentation while maintaining a pragmatic American outlook, the journal frequently walked the line between celebration and critique of planning orthodoxy.<sup>27</sup>

Interestingly, Grebler had visited Rotterdam.<sup>28</sup> This direct engagement may explain the article's nuanced tone — especially compared to more distant or abstract assessments from British sources.

#### Pedestrian Urbanism Across Borders



Canadian interest in systematic planning and post-war reconstruction practices in the Netherlands.

A second key theme in both American and Canadian commentary is the pedestrian-first orientation of post-war Dutch planning. *Architecture Canada* (1952) emphasizes the "systematic separation of traffic flows" and the "human-scaled public spaces" of projects like the Lijnbaan.<sup>29</sup> *Progressive Architecture* similarly praises the area as "Europe's first truly modern pedestrian environment," signaling international fascination with traffic-free urban zones at a time when many North American cities were embracing the automobile.<sup>30</sup>

This cross-national interest in Rotterdam's pedestrian zones may reflect a growing anxiety around car-dominated development — especially in countries like Canada and the U.S., where suburbanization was reshaping cities rapidly.<sup>31</sup> Rotterdam, in this light, appeared not just modern, but ethically forward-thinking.

#### **Economic Pragmatism and Repetition**

Both Canadian and American sources also acknowledge the economic constraints of Dutch rebuilding. Rather than judging repeated housing forms as monotonous, the journals highlight the rational use of space and attention to "site-sensitive design."<sup>32</sup> *Architecture Canada* explicitly states that "architectural richness is found not in facades but in spatial composition."<sup>33</sup> This framing resonates with mid-century Canadian architectural values, which often celebrated modesty and functionality over expression.

Beyond its historical context, the Rotterdam case encourages more general consideration of the impact of argumentation on the meaning of cities. Which urban concepts become popular, which ideas are praised, and which are forgotten are all greatly influenced by how cities are described in the professional media.

Rotterdam's example shows that cities do not simply act; they are also acted upon by language. Its modernist image, forged in the pages of mid-century magazines, continues to shape how we think about post-war urbanism. Future research might explore how contemporary architectural publications and digital media continue to reconstruct the symbolic identities of cities like Rotterdam, not only in Europe but globally.

Grebler, too, makes this point: while admiring projects like the Lijnbaan and the Hague's Sportlaan-Scheveningen, he remains skeptical of isolated green space and underused zones.<sup>34</sup> His comparative analysis of Dutch cities — praising Arnhem's train station, critiquing Nijmegen's functionality — situates Rotterdam within a broader spectrum of reconstruction outcomes, offering international readers a nuanced reference point.

#### The British Perspective: Artistic Modernism and National Policy



*Figure V: Title and zoning map from J. L. Berbiers' article "Rotterdam — The Reconstruction of the Inner City," published in* The Architect and Building News, no. 4384 (December 25, 1952), 757. *The map illustrates the planned functions of central Rotterdam, reflecting a British analytical approach to post-war urban redevelopment.* 

The publication of December 25, 1952 of The Architect and Building New frames the Dutch case alongside British post-war housing policy and architectural innovations, rather than focusing only on Rotterdam. Its main feature — on the deregulation of small-scale housing in the UK — reflects a national conversation about balancing state support with market liberalization. <sup>35</sup>

While Rotterdam is not dismissed, it is decentered in this account. The article draws parallels between Rotterdam and developments like Hatfield Technical College, praising prefabrication, artistic integration, and minimal maintenance design. <sup>36</sup> These priorities point to a slightly different discourse: where *Progressive Architecture* critiques rigidity and *Architecture Canada* elevates neighborhood planning, the British source emphasizes material innovation and policy pragmatism.

The shift in focus may reflect historical proximity: both London and Rotterdam had suffered German attacks, and both were undergoing massive post-war rebuilding. Yet whereas Canadian and American articles treat Rotterdam as an "other" to be admired, the British journal subtly integrates it into a shared European recovery narrative — less utopian, more policy-driven.

#### Conclusion

When considered side-by-side, these international periodicals do more than document Rotterdam's reconstruction — they reflect broader geopolitical, ideological, and professional currents within post-war architecture. Where Canada emphasizes systematic neighborhood planning, the U.S. foregrounds creative tension and on-the-ground observation, and Britain engages in quiet comparison through the lens of domestic policy.

All three sources engage with pedestrian-friendly planning, functional pragmatism, and the symbolic weight of Rotterdam as a modern city, yet each from a distinct angle. These responses not only illustrate Rotterdam's international visibility, but also reveal the discursive frameworks through which post-war urbanism was interpreted, debated, and imagined.

(December 25, 1952): 757-760.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Leo Grebler, "Rotterdam and the Future City," *Progressive Architecture*, August 1956, 58–60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Grebler, "Rotterdam and the Future City," 58-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Grebler, "Rotterdam and the Future City," 58-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Meredith L. Clausen, *The Pan Am Building and the Shattering of the Modernist Dream* (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2005), 92–94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Grebler, "Rotterdam and the Future City," 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," 264-265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," 264-265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> John Sewell, *The Shape of the City: Toronto Struggles with Modern Planning* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1993), 74–76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Grebler, "Rotterdam and the Future City," 58-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Van der Weyde, "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," 264-265.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Grebler, "Rotterdam and the Future City," 58-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> "Rotterdam – The Reconstruction of the Inner City," The Architect and Building News 202, no. 4384

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> "Rotterdam – The Reconstruction of the Inner City," *The Architect and Building News* 202, no. 4384 (December 25, 1952): 757–760.

## 3. Conclusion

One of the most radical urban changes in twentieth-century Europe was the redevelopment of Rotterdam after the war. This thesis examined how this transformation was interpreted and represented in international architectural media, particularly in journals from Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom between 1952 and 1956. It used discourse analysis to show how outside observers portrayed Rotterdam as a symbolic testing ground for modernist urbanism rather than just a place that needed to be rebuilt.

The analysis revealed three recurring themes: the prominence of pedestrian-oriented planning, the tension between creative freedom and planning control, and the pragmatic response to material scarcity through repetition and spatial logic. These themes represented deeper cultural and ideological stances within the architectural communities of the day; they were not just descriptive. For Canadian and American writers, Rotterdam represented a form of ethical modernism that resisted car-dominated planning, while British sources tended to situate the city within a broader, policy-focused European recovery narrative.

By focusing exclusively on international discourse, this thesis deliberately leaves out later heritage debates and contemporary urban redevelopment challenges, which, while important, fall outside the scope of this representational analysis. <sup>37</sup> Instead, the research emphasizes how Rotterdam became a discursive mirror through which foreign architects and planners projected their own aspirations, anxieties, and ideological leanings.

According to this research, architecture is more than just buildings; it also includes how cities are shown and discussed in the international media. Rotterdam became a model city for other cities, because of its architecture and because of the way it presented internationally.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Luuk Boelens and Marcel Bontje, "Planning Strategies for Urban Heritage Conservation: The Case of Post-War Rotterdam," *Journal of Urban History* 42, no. 3 (2016): 485–503; Jaap Abrahamse, *Urban Transformations in Post-War Rotterdam: Heritage, Renewal, and the Future of the Modern City* (Rotterdam: nai010 Publishers, 2020).

## Bibliography

Abrahamse, Jaap. Urban Transformations in Post-War Rotterdam: Heritage, Renewal, and the Future of the Modern City. Rotterdam: nai010 Publishers, 2020.

Blijstra, R. "Rotterdam als wederopbouwstad." Het Vrije Volk, November 13, 1952.

Boelens, Luuk, and Marcel Bontje. "Planning Strategies for Urban Heritage Conservation: The Case of Post-War Rotterdam." *Journal of Urban History* 42, no. 3 (2016): 485–503.

Bosma, Kees, and Herman Hellinga. *Mastering the City: Planning and Architecture in the Netherlands*, 1940–2010. Rotterdam: nai010 Publishers, 2006.

Clausen, Meredith L. *The Pan Am Building and the Shattering of the Modernist Dream*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2005.

Couperus, Stefan. "Experimental Planning after the Blitz: Non-Governmental Planning Initiatives and Post-War Reconstruction in Coventry and Rotterdam, 1940–1955." *Journal of Modern European History* 13, no. 4 (2015): 516–533. <u>https://doi.org/10.17104/1611-8944-</u> 2015-4-516. <u>https://pure.rug.nl/ws/portalfiles/portal/77830035/1611\_8944\_2015\_4\_516.pdf</u>

Grebler, Leo. "Rotterdam and the Future City." *Progressive Architecture*, August 1956, 58–61.

Groenendijk, Paul. "Wat is wederopbouw?" *Platform Wederopbouw Rotterdam*. Accessed April 2, 2025. <u>https://wederopbouwrotterdam.nl/artikelen/wat-is-wederopbouw</u>

Le Corbusier. The Radiant City. New York: Orion Press, 1967.

Liscombe, Rhodri Windsor. "Modernism in Canadian Architecture." *Journal of the Society for the Study of Architecture in Canada* 15, no. 2 (1990): 5–10.

Perry, Clarence. "The Neighborhood Unit." In *Regional Survey of New York and Its Environs*, vol. 7. New York: Regional Plan of New York and Its Environs, 1929.

Sewell, John. *The Shape of the City: Toronto Struggles with Modern Planning*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1993.

"The Architect and Building News." Vol. 202, no. 4384, December 25, 1952: 1107–1110.

Van der Mandele, K.P. "Speech at Unveiling of the Monument *Aan den Slag*." November 1945. Nationaal Archief, Collectie Spaarnestad.

Van der Weyde, H. "Post-War City Building in the Netherlands." *Architecture Canada* (Royal Architectural Institute of Canada) 29, no. 9 (September 1952): 264–265.

Van Ulzen, Patricia. *Imagine a Metropolis: Rotterdam's Creative Class, 1970–2000*. Rotterdam: 010 Publishers, 2007.

Wagenaar, Cor. Welvaartsstad in Wording: De Wederopbouw van Rotterdam, 1940–1952. Groningen: s.n., 1993. <u>https://pure.rug.nl/ws/portalfiles/portal/14515445/Wagenaar.PDF</u>

# **List of Figures**

#### **Figure I**

Wiskerke, R. "De Lijnbaan." *Nederlands Dagblad*, March 29, 2014. <u>https://www.nd.nl/cultuur/boeken/894680/de-lijnbaan</u>.

## **Figure II**

"Winkelcentrum De Lijnbaan." *Platform Wederopbouw Rotterdam*. Accessed April 2, 2025. <u>https://wederopbouwrotterdam.nl/artikelen/winkelcentrum-de-lijnbaan</u>.

#### **Figure III**

*Stadsarchief Rotterdam.* "Rotterdam in Oorlog." Accessed April 2, 2025. <u>https://stadsarchief.rotterdam.nl/zoek-en-ontdek/themas/rotterdam-in-oorlog/</u>.

#### **Figure IV**

Opening of H. van der Weyde's article "Characteristics of Post-War City Building in the Netherlands," published in *Architecture Canada*, vol. 29, no. 9 (September 1952), 264. The article reflects a Canadian interest in systematic planning and post-war reconstruction practices in the Netherlands.

#### Figure V

Title and zoning map from J. L. Berbiers' article "Rotterdam — The Reconstruction of the Inner City," published in *The Architect and Building News*, no. 4384 (December 25, 1952), 757. The functional zoning of central Rotterdam reflects the British focus on rational planning and design control in post-war reconstruction.